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			Cast of Characters

			Richard Abath. The night watchman who made the grievous errors of allowing the two men dressed as police officers into the museum and then stepping away from the museum’s only panic alarm on a ruse by the two thieves.

			Anthony Amore. Security director for the museum since 2005 who has worked diligently with the FBI and US attorney’s office on the Gardner investigation.

			Earle Berghman. Close friend in Maine of the late mobster Robert Guarente, who believed that Guarente had possession of some of the stolen Gardner paintings. After Guarente’s death he introduced Guarente’s daughter to a Boston lawyer in the hope of working out a deal to facilitate the recovery of the artwork.

			James “Whitey” Bulger. Notorious Boston mobster whose associates contend sought out who was responsible for the Gardner theft to extract tribute from them for having pulled off such a theft on his turf.

			Myles Connor Jr. Legendary Boston art thief who contends that he cased the Gardner for a heist with Robert Donati after the pair pulled off the theft of paintings by Andrew Wyeth and his father, N. C. Wyeth, from the Woolworth Estate in Monmouth, Maine, in May 1974.

			Richard DesLauriers. Head of the FBI’s Boston office from 2010 to 2013, who announced on the theft’s twenty-third anniversary that his agents had determined who was responsible for the theft but said the public’s help was still needed to gain the artwork’s recovery.

			Richard Devlin. Soldier in the Rossetti gang of East Boston who became an enforcer for Frank Salemme. Killed in a 1994 shootout with members of the rival gang fighting for control of the Boston underworld. Louis Royce, who had cased the Gardner Museum for robbery, says he told Devlin of the museum’s poor security and together they operated a cherrypicker to check the museum’s windows one night in 1982, only to find they were locked.

			Robert Donati. Confidante of and driver for Boston mob leader Vincent Ferrara who reportedly told Ferrara that he had pulled off the Gardner robbery to try to gain Ferrara’s release from prison. Donati was brutally beaten to death in September 1991, possibly a victim of the Boston gang war raging at the time.

			John Durham. Assistant US attorney who spearheaded the prosecution on minor drug charges against Robert Gentile, the low-level criminal believed to be tied to hiding one or more of the stolen paintings at his home in Manchester, Connecticut.

			Vincent “Vinnie” Ferrara. Co-leader of the renegade Boston mob group that fought Frank Salemme for control of the region’s underworld in the 1980s and ‘90s. Ferrara was released from prison in 2005 after serving sixteen years for racketeering when a federal judge found that prosecutors had withheld evidence clearing Ferrara from involvement in the murder of an underling.

			Robert Gentile. Low-level crime associate from Manchester, Connecticut, who was convicted of selling prescription drugs to an undercover federal informant, a case he and his lawyer contend was pursued against him to force cooperation on his knowledge of the Gardner theft. Most incriminating evidence found in a sweep of his house, backyard, and false-bottomed shed was a list showing what the artwork would bring on the black market. Gentile acknowledges that he worked as a cook and security guard for Robert Guarente and Robert Luisi while they were running a cocaine trafficking ring in late 1990s in Boston, and on several occasions drove Luisi to Philadelphia, where Luisi met with mob leaders.

			Lyle Grindle. Security director of the Gardner Museum at the time of the theft. Knew that the museum lacked several key security components, including a secured control room and a more sophisticated alarm system, but was unable to convince the museum’s trustees to raise the funds needed for immediate improvements.

			Bernard Grossberg. Boston lawyer who signed a deal with Robert Guarente’s daughter and best friend to share reward money if they could prove they could gain recovery of one or more of the paintings. Paint chips given to him by the daughter and friend turned out to be phony.

			Elene Guarente. Former wife of the mobster Robert Guarente who told the FBI and Anthony Amore in 2010 that her late husband had given one or more of the stolen paintings to Robert Gentile, his longtime friend from Connecticut.

			Robert “Bobby” Guarente. The key swingman in the FBI’s account of what happened to the stolen paintings after their theft, and a loyalist to Frank Salemme and his underworld gang. The FBI believes Guarente had given some of the artwork, stolen by associates of the Rossetti gang of East Boston or others associated with Carmello Merlino of Dorchester, to Robert Gentile.

			Anne Hawley. Appointed director of the museum in 1989, she had been on the job for just six months when the theft occurred. Has spurred FBI investigators, public officials, corporate leaders, even the Vatican to help in recovery efforts. Led the drive to raise more than $100 million to build a new wing, which opened in 2012 adjacent to the museum.

			Arnold Hiatt. Now-emeritus trustee of the Gardner Museum, was instrumental in having Hawley named as director and has worked hard to maintain the search for the stolen artwork as a priority among investigators.

			David Houghton. Small-time hood from Malden, Massachusetts, who allegedly visited Myles Connor in prison in California to say that he and Robert Donati had pulled off the Gardner robbery. Houghton’s size, more than three hundred pounds, was far larger than the description of the two thieves, however.

			Geoffrey Kelly. FBI agent in charge of the investigation. Quoted in 2010 as saying there had never been a “concrete sighting” of any of the stolen artwork, but told a Fox TV reporter without providing any details in 2014 that there had been a “confirmed sighting” of one of the paintings.

			Martin Leppo. Legendary criminal lawyer who has represented most defendants whose names have been mentioned as having possible ties to the paintings. Convinced prosecutors to combine federal and state prison sentences on Myles Connor in the 1970s after Connor arranged for the return of a Rembrandt stolen from Boston’s Museum of Fine Arts, a deal that stirred belief among criminal types that law enforcement will give legal breaks in exchange for return of stolen art.

			Robert Luisi Jr. Boston mobster who operated a wide-scale cocaine trafficking network in 1998–1999 with Robert Guarente in suburban Boston. Reneged on a deal with federal prosecutors to testify against Philadelphia mob associates and accepted a ten-year prison sentence instead. Is now reportedly in the witness protection program.

			Tom Mashberg. Reporter who was taken to a Brooklyn warehouse in 1997 by low-level hood William Youngworth to be shown a purported Rembrandt seascape. Subsequently authored the sensational Boston Herald article “We’ve Seen It” after the viewing. Investigators later questioned whether the heavily varnished seascape could have been unfurled in the way that Mashberg described and contended what Mashberg had seen was not the actual painting but a replica.

			A. Ryan McGuigan. Hartford criminal defense lawyer who earned Robert Gentile a reduced prison sentence from the one sought by federal prosecutors. Although he has contended that Gentile has no connection to the Gardner paintings, his law firm signed a deal with Gentile to gain 40 percent of any reward money Gentile might receive if he did arrange for the return of any of the stolen works.

			Carmello Merlino. Owner of a Dorchester auto repair garage that served as a center of criminal operations for drug trafficking, fencing stolen material, and plotting to rob an armored car headquarters. Died in prison after the FBI busted up the armored car scheme. Talked much with associates like Robert Guarente and David Turner about arranging the return of the Gardner paintings in the late 1990s. The FBI continues to believe Merlino had a role in the Gardner saga.

			Carmen Ortiz. US attorney for Massachusetts since 2009. Like several of her predecessors, has pledged immunity from prosecution to whoever can facilitate the return of the artwork stolen from the Gardner Museum.

			Charles Pappas Jr. High school chum and criminal partner of David Turner who was shot to death in 1993 after agreeing to testify against Turner in the prosecution related to a Canton, Massachusetts, home invasion. While he snitched on Turner to the state police as being involved in several other crimes, Pappas never alleged that Turner had participated in the Gardner theft, as the FBI believes.

			Raymond S. Patriarca. Head of New England organized crime from 1950 until his death by heart attack in 1984. Ruled with an iron fist, even allegedly ordering that his brother be murdered for failing to detect that federal agents had placed an electronic surveillance device in Patriarca’s Providence, Rhode Island, office. His son who succeeded him was unable to bring about peace between the two gangs that fought for control of criminal operations in Boston.

			Jurek “Rocky” Rokoszynski. Hired by Gardner director Anne Hawley in 2005 to assist in the investigation after his success in recovering two Turner masterpieces for the Tate Gallery in London. Spent much of his time on the Gardner payroll making more than $150,000 chasing down what turned out to be a dead end in Florida.

			Ralph Rossetti. The head of an East Boston criminal gang loyal to Frank Salemme, who, according to the FBI, had cased the Gardner Museum for robbery in the early 1980s with master thief Louis Royce.

			Stephen “Stevie” Rossetti. Nephew of Ralph Rossetti who told another associate that he knew the Gardner was vulnerable to being robbed but had passed on the score. Was arrested along with Carmello Merlino and David Turner in 1999 for conspiring to rob an armored car headquarters and is now serving a forty-four-year prison sentence.

			Louis Royce. South Boston native who left his home as a youth and found a warm place to sleep by sneaking into the Gardner Museum before closing time. Turned into one of Boston’s most colorful thieves and passed on to associates in the Rossetti gang his deep knowledge of the Gardner facility and the vulnerabilities of the museum’s security system.

			Frank “Cadillac Frank” Salemme. Head of a criminal gang in Boston who believed he was entitled to succeed Gennaro (Gerry) Angiulo and his brothers as head of the Boston underworld, but had to fight a renegade group for that control in the 1980s and ‘90s.

			Michael Sullivan. US attorney for Massachusetts between 2001 and 2008. Stephen “The Rifleman” Flemmi told him that his boss, James “Whitey” Bulger, had tasked him with finding out who had pulled off the Gardner robbery, but that his efforts were in vain.

			David A. Turner. Braintree High School graduate who was introduced to the thug life after his father’s death via various mob activities, including alleged cocaine trafficking, by Robert Guarente in the 1980s. Although he was allegedly in Florida at the time of the heist, rumors continue to swirl about his believed involvement. Turner denied his good friend’s statement that he was writing a book that would detail his role in the theft and being set up by the FBI to participate in a scheme to rob an armored car headquarters to force him to tell what he knew of the heist.

			William Youngworth. Antiques dealer and low-level member of the Rossetti gang who arranged for Boston Herald reporter Tom Mashberg to view what was reported to be the stolen 1633 Rembrandt painting Storm on the Sea of Galilee in a Brooklyn warehouse during the early morning hours following a clandestine road trip in August 1997. The FBI and museum officials later rejected that Youngworth had access to the stolen artwork, as he had claimed, when paint chips he had turned over proved to be from another painting of that period but not the famed Rembrandt seascape.
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			The two best known and most valuable paintings of the thirteen works stolen from the Gardner Museum: Rembrandt’s Storm on the Sea of Galilee and Vermeer’s The Concert. Courtesy of the Isabella Stewart Gardner Museum. 

		

	
		
			Introduction

			On March 18, 1990, the city of Boston—and the world—suffered a profound loss when two men dressed as police officers commandeered the Isabella Stewart Gardner Museum and pulled off the greatest art theft in world history. Twenty-five years later the artwork remains missing, and the empty frames and unfilled spaces on antique desks at the museum still stand as grim reminders of the poor security and futile investigative work that followed the theft.

			My work initially drew me to the case. As an investigative journalist for the Boston Globe I was a founding member of a reporting team that exposed massive corruption in the city of Somerville, Massachusetts, uncovered the unholy alliance the FBI had formed with notorious gangster James “Whitey” Bulger, and blew apart the clergy sex abuse scandal inside the Boston Archdiocese. My reporting had even helped solve two art thefts. The Gardner Museum heist, I felt, remained as Boston’s last, best secret, and deserved all the reporting skills I could bring to it.

			I was born and raised in Boston, and the Latin School, which I attended, is located practically across the street from the fabled museum. My father, an artist himself, was in awe of the Old Masters whose works graced the Gardner’s galleries. And two of my cousins, both classical pianists, often performed at the Sunday concerts inside the museum’s Tapestry Room. I felt so at home at the Gardner that I immediately bonded with an informant—a mobster—over our mutual love of the museum. That connection eventually led to a major break in my investigation.

			For a time the leading theory had been that notorious Boston mobster James (Whitey) Bulger had engineered the theft. But then he was caught, after sixteen years on the run, and never once mentioned the paintings in any attempted bargains before his 2013 trial or after his conviction. As for the notion that there was a “Doctor No” figure who had commissioned the heist to get his hands on a favored painting, one need only consider the crime scene. The paintings were carelessly cut from their ancient frames, their windowed fronts shattered, leaving shards of glass throughout the two galleries the robbers pillaged. This was not a surgical strike. This book will hopefully put to rest some of the popular theories about the case—while opening up new leads that point the way to a suspect many have dismissed. . . . 

			After years of digging that included access to the museum’s own files on the case, I came to understand that the answer to the secret of the Gardner heist lay in Boston’s own  backyard and in its recent history in the war between the two major criminal gangs that had emerged there in the mid-1980s. On one side was the gang led by Frank “Cadillac Frank” Salemme and the other by best friends Vincent “Vinnie” Ferrara and J. R. Russo. They fought for dominance for nearly a decade, battling over every criminal score imaginable: armored car and bank heists, bookmaking, and prostitution, and most remarkably, as I discovered, the masterpieces inside the Isabella Stewart Gardner Museum.

			In a March 2013 press conference that led to national attention, the FBI sketched out in the vaguest of terms a scenario that pointed to the involvement of a criminal network stretching from Boston to Maine to Hartford that it believed was behind the theft and stashing of the paintings. Although no suspects were named that day, this book will show in compelling detail the FBI’s theory of this crime—and a number of holes in it.

			For one, though the FBI focused on identifying who was responsible for the crime, to me, the secret to determining what had happened to the stolen masterpieces required figuring out not only who was responsible but also why they did it. Why would anyone seek to carry out a robbery on the scale of the Gardner heist, only to keep the paintings in secret for more than two decades? Why, after a young thief named Louis Royce realized in 1981 that the Gardner Museum was vulnerable to theft, did it take nine years for someone to actually rob it? After years of investigating this case, these questions continued to nag at me.

			To answer them, I have had to take a deep dive into the inner workings of Boston’s notorious underworld and gained the trust of some of its most flamboyant and pivotal figures. They ushered me into a world previously unknown to most people. In many ways, the trail I followed in the Gardner case was uniquely Boston, a historic but small city where bank robber and bank president can live side by side in the same neighborhood, or, as with the infamous Bulger family, where the notorious gang leader and State Senate president were brothers.

			So no one blinked when I passed on to the FBI the lead that a Massachusetts State Police captain had uncovered that a Gardner Museum gallery guard had cashed one of his monthly retirement checks at an after-hours club owned by another mobster and frequented by several whose names had been mentioned as possible suspects in the case. Whether it was followed up or not depended on the judgment of the sole agent on the case.

			This book also delves deep into the investigation of the Gardner case and how it was beset by carelessly blown leads and missed opportunities, raising the question of whether it was most effective for the FBI to be solely responsible for leading it.

			Although the individual agents assigned to the case have worked diligently to chase down even the most ridiculous lead, the organization has failed to penetrate the netherworld of Boston’s criminal gangs in pursuit of a recovery. And unlike investigations in similar cases in Europe, where teams of investigators work tirelessly and with the full backing of their governments and the art-loving citizens of their countries, the Gardner case has been relegated to as low a priority as the FBI can perhaps afford it.

			Anne Hawley, the director of the Gardner Museum since before the theft, is among the most frustrated by the investigation’s lack of success. In its aftermath, Hawley used every contact and resource available to her, from US senators to the Vatican, to prod the investigation and convince the public of the extent the loss of these masterpieces represented. That she has been virtually alone in these appeals marks the difference in how the Gardner theft has been viewed in America.

			The heist deserves to be treated like a national loss, drawing the same priority and availability of sophisticated resources that responded to the Boston Marathon bombing, and helped spur the city’s recovery from that tragedy.

			Until that happens, the continued absence of those masterpieces from the Gardner’s galleries will deny newcomers and devotees to the art world, whether world traveler or neighborhood resident, the beauty and sophistication that was such a major part of Boston’s contribution to the civilized world. 

		

	
		
		  Part I

			The Heist

		

	
		
			Chapter One

			Royce

			Just months after being paroled from Massachusetts state prison, where he had recently finished serving a seventeen-year sentence for kidnapping and attempted extortion, Louis Royce, now well into his seventies, walks easily through the Isabella Stewart Gardner Museum. Measured by his rough appearance and rougher past, he seems an unlikely person to be strolling through the galleries of one of Boston’s most cultured sites. Considering Royce has spent most of his adult life in federal and state prisons, you’d think he’d be out of place standing alongside the refined blue bloods and moneyed tourists who customarily make their way through the Gardner. But, walking beside him, I sense a remarkable ease.

			It’s been nearly thirty years since Royce has been inside the museum, but he ambles through the rooms—albeit with a slight limp from that long-ago bullet wound—like someone who knows every inch of every gallery and staircase if not  every painting on the Gardner’s walls. And he does.

			The Raphael Room, on the second floor of the four-story building, is ornate but tasteful.

			Its parquet floors, high ceiling, and deep red walls make it feel—like the rest of the museum—like a home rather than an art museum. As we stop at one of the floor-to-ceiling windows that overlook Boston’s Fens neighborhood, Royce brushes the top of an antique desk and a smile creases his well-worn face.

			“This is it,” he says, pointing to the painting encased in a gold frame that leans on the desk. “This is what I wanted to take.”

		  The painting, Raphael’s Lamentation Over the Dead Christ, painted in 1504 and part of the Gardner collection since 1900, is a stunning piece. It isn’t large, but the details and the pathos it evokes are palpable. Just to hear Royce speak the thought of stealing such an exquisite piece in such an artistically sacred place is disturbing. But as I look into his eyes, I know he is dead serious.

			_______________________

			Louis F. Royce was only thirteen years old when he began visiting—and staying overnight, hidden away—at the Isabella Stewart Gardner Museum. Intended as a benevolent gift by a millionairess to the people of Boston in honor of her late industrialist husband, the museum has represented the best of what the city stands for since it opened its doors in 1903. And no one has taken advantage of that gift quite like Louis Royce.

			As a kid, Royce grew up hardscrabble in the tough, crime-ridden neighborhoods of South Boston. But something about the Gardner spoke to him and on his second visit, among some of the world’s most expensive paintings and antiques, Royce found a comfortable and well-hidden spot in a third-floor gallery and spent the night.

			His first visit had been a few months before, with his eighth-grade classmates from the Patrick Gavin Junior High School in South Boston. The field trip was intended to show the kids from one of Boston’s poorest neighborhoods some of the city’s finer things: beautiful paintings, antiques, and tapestries. But it wasn’t the artwork that Royce remembered most about the museum when he ran away from his South Boston home a short time later. His fond memories of the artwork would come decades later, after he had become one of Boston’s most successful thieves, and he saw the museum and its decrepit security system as the score of a lifetime. No, what the youthful Royce remembered most from that school field trip in 1950 was how warm the Gardner had been. So Royce sought the comfort of the museum after he ran away.

			After a day spent in petty crime, running numbers and bets for established bookies in downtown Boston, and shoplifting out of department and grocery stores, Royce made his way back to the Fenway neighborhood and walked into the museum before its late-afternoon closing. He made his way to the third floor, and the long narrow gallery that runs along the building’s eastern side. There he squeezed himself under the ornate antique table with a heavy crimson tapestry hanging over its edge, giving him the perfect hiding place. Under the table, below the painted terra-cotta of Matteo Civitali’s fifteenth-century Virgin Adoring the Child, Louis Royce found a new home and fell asleep.

			What had driven young Royce to run away, and ultimately into the life of crime that led to the plan to rob the Gardner Museum, was learning a family secret so devastating that he remembered it vividly when he recalled it for me sixty years later.

			“The man I thought was my father wasn’t,” he said.

			Although his parents were poor, with seven kids and two adults jammed into a three-bedroom, cold-water flat a block away from a busy subway station, a bond was shared among the family. The kids checked one another’s homework before going to bed at night, and any extra money that any one of them earned was always split with the others. Louis, being the oldest, followed that rule to the letter. Every week he turned over the few dollars he’d earned as a newspaper delivery boy to his mother, who let him keep for himself the few tips that he made.

			It was a threadbare existence, but Royce remembers those early boyhood years with fondness. That is, until the day his mother sent him downtown to Boston’s City Hall to get a copy of his birth certificate so he could get his license to shine shoes. It was time he earned some real money after school, not just the pennies he made delivering the papers.

			“People like you, your teachers like you, the priests like you. You’d be good at shining shoes,” his mother, Lulu, told him.

			It was on that trip to City Hall that Louis Royce found out the secret his mother had been keeping from him his whole young life. John E. Royce, the man young Louis had known for as long as he could remember, who had tucked him in at night and even whipped him when he’d gotten caught in a lie or another transgression, was not in fact his father. Indeed, the space on the birth certificate Louis picked up at City Hall that day was blank where it listed “name of father.”

			When Louis returned home that afternoon, he confronted his mother: “Why isn’t Dad’s name on my birth certificate?” At the kitchen table, before the other kids got home from school, Lulu told her son the truth.

			He had been born Louis Morrill, having been given his mother’s maiden name as his last name. Before she married John Royce, Lulu told him, she had been involved with a married Gloucester fisherman and had two children with him: a daughter, who was born with Down syndrome and had lived her life in a state institution, and Louis.

			Although a year after Louis found the birth certificate John Royce would sign the papers to adopt him, it was too late.

			“I felt empty,” he recalled to me, sixty years later. “All of a sudden I was somehow different from the brothers and sisters I’d grown up with. I didn’t belong.”

			After his mother broke the news to him, Royce headed to his bedroom to stuff the few clothes he owned into a paper bag. Then his younger brother Billy walked in.

			“I heard,” Billy said, flopping onto the bottom tier of the two bunk beds squeezed into the bedroom. “Ma told me.”

			Louis said nothing and, not wanting to show he had been crying, didn’t even look at his younger brother.

			“Where are you going to go?” Billy asked. “You know, you don’t have to go nowhere. You can still live here with us like nothing happened. You didn’t do anything wrong.”

			“I know I didn’t do anything wrong,” Louis shot back, the rage boiling up inside him. “This isn’t my fault; it’s theirs,” he said, nodding to the kitchen, where his mother was getting dinner ready. “But it explains a lot.”

			Before Billy could say anything, Louis reminded him about his last birthday. There had been no cake, no celebration, as there had been for Billy’s as well as their sisters’. And instead of walking into the house with a gift, like a football or a baseball glove, their father had handed him an envelope when he got home that day, late and drunk as usual. Inside, without a card, there was a single dollar bill.

			“So what?” Billy shrugged. “You can take any of our stuff. You know that.”

			Louis clenched his hands into fists and walked over to Billy, fully intending to jump him and show him how furious he was. But Louis and Billy both knew that even if he landed a punch, that would be it. There would be no beating. Although Billy was several years younger than Louis, he was already catching up to him in height and size. The crazed toughness that would later manifest itself in his shooting two Massachusetts prison guards, whom Billy thought had frisked his mother too closely when she came to visit him in prison, was already beginning to show up. Though he wasn’t even a teenager yet, neighborhood kids knew not to mess with Billy Royce. He was stronger and tougher, and, as Louis had learned for sure earlier in the day, Billy had in him something Louis did not: their father’s DNA.

			When he left the Royce house that night, Louis became a “boy of the streets,” skipping school whenever he felt like it, hanging out in Scollay Square, Boston’s seediest area, a mecca of strip joints, all-night movie houses, bars, and diners.

			“The way I felt, that man wasn’t my father,” Royce told me, thinking back. “There was no reason for me to stay in that house.”

			When he recounted the story to me, all those years later, it was clear that just thinking about it again made Louis ashamed and embarrassed. Soon that sense of being an outsider, of never belonging, became a strong part of his psychology. He compensated by being loyal to the cohorts he spent his life in crime with, especially the members of the East Boston gang he joined in the mid-1970s after walking away from a minimum-security facility in Boston’s Mattapan neighborhood. He was always doing favors for them, it seemed: turning over the details of armored cars and banks he’d cased and figured were vulnerable to being robbed or accepting culpability for a crime so another gang member might evade prosecution. Or turning in stolen artwork so the gang leader might stay out of jail.

			The urge to be part of a group, no matter a criminal gang or a cell-block group of prisoners, defined Louis Royce, and regardless of whether the enterprise was legal, it meant that Royce never—absolutely never—informed on anyone.

			But first Louis had to learn the lesson of what loyalty could bring on the streets of Scollay Square. Right away, Royce loved the life he found there. He felt at home in the seedy Boston district populated by burlesque halls and rough bars, that attracted gamblers, thrill seekers, and down-and-outers. He quickly began running numbers for bookies like the infamous Ilario Zannino (aka Larry Baione), who rose to become one of Boston’s biggest organized crime figures.

			And Royce, and his inimitable abilities as a thief, were remembered by them. When Zannino was being prosecuted for bookmaking at a local district court, Royce and an associate broke into the courthouse during a weekend night in 1970, picked the lock on the evidence safe, and stole the cash and other incriminating records seized in Zannino’s arrest. Although Royce was prosecuted after police arrested him and found in his wallet some of the marked bills he had taken from the safe, he recalls with pride that Zannino paid him $10,000 for the job, which resulted in the charges against Zannino being dropped. More important, Royce earned trust and respect within Boston’s crime world by refusing to cooperate with the police who arrested him.

			“I figured this was the family that I had now, so no matter what scrapes we got in, I’d keep my mouth shut,” said Royce.

			His vulnerability, his need to make friends and gain respect, made Royce an oddity in the underworld. It also explained his loyalty to some gang members and not to others. In fact, except for being a master thief, Royce had few personal vices. He didn’t smoke, drink, or do drugs. And while it may have caused some smart-ass comments among his criminal associates, he made no secret of his being gay.

			No doubt, though, there was a threatening side to Royce. He was certainly willing to introduce violence to gain the upper hand. But even better, he liked people to know that his brother Billy was a criminal with a wild, violent streak. And while Louis Royce had committed dozens of robberies, two of his three longest sentences were for violent crimes. In fact, when he was planning the Gardner Museum heist, Royce was an escapee from federal detention for an elaborate kidnapping and extortion plan he’d been nabbed for ten years earlier.
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			Louis F. Royce, circa 1981, considered by the FBI to be one of Boston’s most artful thieves, cased the museum for a heist, having known about its poor security since sleeping in its galleries as a runaway youth.

		

			In the early 1970s, Royce and several accomplices had forced their way into the home of a banker and his family in Lincoln, Rhode Island. While the family was held hostage, Royce drove the husband to his bank and, before it opened for business, stole more than $100,000 in cash from its safe. The crime came undone when Royce was arrested after he checked himself into a Boston hotel using his mother’s maiden name—Morrill—to sign the register. He was unaware that Boston police had just commenced one of their biggest manhunts ever in search of a criminal named William Morrill Gilday, who was on the run after killing a police officer during a local bank holdup.

			But easily his biggest heist, and a measure of how daring Royce could be, came in December 1981, when he arranged the robbery of a South Shore bank with a close friend, Richard Devlin, who had been released from prison on a furlough just an hour before the heist.

			Even though he was ten years older than Devlin, Royce was drawn to the younger man when they served time together in the 1960s at a Massachusetts state prison. The two shared an insatiable interest in criminal mayhem, and balanced each other well. Royce liked to plan his heists meticulously; Devlin delighted in carrying them out.

			“I liked him,” Royce told me, remembering those early days fondly. “He was a dynamic guy and if you stayed on his good side, which I made sure I did, he was always talking one score or another.”

			Although he would be released from prison the following month, Devlin went ahead and participated in the Rockland bank robbery while he was on a daylong furlough from a minimum-security facility in Plymouth, Massachusetts. During his first term as governor of Massachusetts, Michael S. Dukakis had broadened the state’s prison furlough program in an effort to ease the re-entry of prisoners into society. 

			Despite the program’s good intentions, there was little oversight, which led to numerous examples of prisoners committing petty crimes while on work release. Most famously, Willie Horton, a convicted murderer, never returned from a weekend furlough and two years later was arrested for raping a woman and assaulting her fiancé in Maryland. The case came to light during Dukakis’s 1988 presidential campaign and proved his political undoing.

			Devlin, too, exploited the furlough program to continue his life in crime. On Saturday, December 19, 1981, Devlin signed himself out of his minimum-security facility at 6:45 a.m., ostensibly to drive to his job nearby. But instead Devlin drove north to a rest area off Route 3 in Marshfield, half an hour away, where Royce was waiting for him along with another member of the Rossetti gang in a van the two had stolen earlier that morning.

			With Royce driving Devlin’s car and Devlin in the stolen van, the trio drove north another fifteen miles to the South Shore Mall in Hanover, and the Rockland Trust Company.

			“I’d scoped out the bank weeks in advance,” Royce says now with the pride only a master thief could muster. “I knew every in and out of the place. When we got there we could see the folks inside counting out the cash. They were preparing for the arrival of the armored car, which always came right when the bank opened, at 9 a.m.”

			So a half hour before the truck’s arrival, the thieves parked their stolen van in the lot of a nearby school and Royce dropped off Devlin and the third man just outside the bank. The men lugged the steel frame of a truck tire out of Royce’s trunk and hurled it through the bank’s window. Then, brandishing rifles, they jumped through the shattered window and ordered the three petrified tellers to hand over the bags of cash they had been filling.

			While the pair were inside the bank, Royce drove back out to nearby Route 3 and parked beneath an overpass. He opened the hood of his car as if it had broken down. There was nothing wrong with the engine, but it allowed Royce to stay put in an accessible place without attracting suspicion. In fact, Royce had outfitted the car with storage areas to stash the rifles that were being used in the robbery along with the money bags from the heist.

			Within minutes, before police could respond to the bank’s alarms, Devlin and his partner were out of the bank and driving to the top of the overpass, where Devlin jumped out of the stolen van and scampered down with the money and rifles to Royce’s waiting car. While Royce and Devlin got away clean, their associate drove the stolen van to the parking lot of the nearby Norwell High School and abandoned it. Police located it a short time later.

			No one was ever arrested in the Rockland Trust theft, but Hanover police who investigated the case told me that Royce’s story checked out, down to the very last detail. In the ensuing months in Boston, Royce said, he and Devlin settled into the Rossetti gang and cased several major scores, including breaking into the Gardner Museum.

			_______________________

			Nearly a year before, on a January night in 1981, Royce walked into Jacques, a typical gay bar in Boston’s Bay Village. It was wild and a little bit seedy, with lots of mirrors and glitter and red-cushioned, stationary stools set around a horseshoe-shaped bar. Royce supposed it was meant to be swanky, but the redbrick industrial-style floor was the real giveaway. It was a dump.

			In this dive, the seeds of the infamous Gardner Museum heist were sown.

			“I know this girl. She’s my girlfriend. She says her father is one of the richest men in Boston,” a young man at the bar told Royce matter-of-factly.

			“Girlfriend?” What the hell? Royce thought. He’d been at the bar looking for a little company.

			“Bisexual,” the kid said flatly. Royce shrugged. A career gangster then in his forties, Royce couldn’t be picky. The younger men who typically frequented Jacques accepted him, and maybe even found him attractive. With his thick afro and love of hard rock music, he did what he could to fit in and more often than not he was able to find a desirable twenty-something for a quick encounter or even to take home. What he didn’t usually do was mix business with pleasure.

			“He’s got one of the best houses in Newton,” the kid went on.

			Royce was getting more interested, and not just in the young man. Rich? Newton? That’s one of the most desirable suburbs outside of Boston, he thought.

			Royce never checked out what the kid was telling him about how he had gotten access to the house and the family, but he was convincing—the house contained expensive jewelry and “an amazing collection of art.” After a little more small talk, the kid told Royce that if he was looking for an easy score and was willing to share the proceeds of what was stolen, he might be able to gain him access to the house.

			“Tell me about the art,” Royce said.

			“Mostly it’s numbered prints. Chagall. Dalí.”

			“Wait a minute,” Royce interrupted. “Dalí? He’s my favorite.”

			Although he had been breaking into well-to-do homes and condos in Newton and neighboring Brookline for several years, this would be the first time Royce would be stealing art. But he’d always loved art.

			Over the next several weeks, the pair concocted a plan. Royce gave his new boyfriend a pad that allowed him to copy the keys to the front door of the Newton home, as well as to the alarm system. The boyfriend had told Royce the family visited Florida every winter, so all they had to do was be patient.

			In mid-February Royce met the boy again at Jacques and learned the Newton couple had planned their Florida vacation for the last two weeks of February. Now Royce had to put the final pieces of the puzzle in place.

			Days before the theft was to take place, Royce approached Ralph Rossetti and his nephew, Stephen. Hardened criminals, the Rossettis had become like family to Royce. Well, at least Ralph was. Stevie was too much of a hothead, and too young for Royce’s liking.

			About a year earlier, a botched robbery attempt had left Royce recuperating from a gunshot wound for over a month, during which time he reached out to Ralph Rossetti for a place in his gang. Royce had always relied on a loose network of friends in crime, but after being shot during one aborted robbery and turned on by a couple of accomplices with whom he had robbed a bank in Dorchester, he decided that the cover provided by being part of a proper crime family would help protect him. The elder Rossetti, having served time in prison with Royce in the 1960s and knowing of his career as an active and aggressive B&E—breaking and entering—artist, welcomed him.

			On the night of February 21, 1981, Royce and the Rossettis were ready for the Newton heist and drove together in Royce’s late-model Cadillac from East Boston to Newton. As the boyfriend had told him, there was one light on in the living room as if to warn potential robbers that the house was occupied. It was not, and Royce, with his headlights off, pulled into the long driveway and parked.

			Royce used the copied keys to disarm the alarm system and to get in through the front door. Once inside, also by design, he broke a downstairs window so it would look like the thieves had gained entrance that way, and that it was not the inside job it really was. The crew took more than $50,000 in jewelry that night, as well as eleven paintings and prints. Based on Mike’s information, Royce and the Rossettis knew exactly where everything was, so getting the jewelry was easy. The art took more time.

			Once all the artwork had been taken from its wall placements, each piece was placed in a separate bag and brought out and stacked in the trunk of Royce’s car.

			Now the question was simply where to stash their booty.

			“Let’s drive this haul over to A-Z, like we agreed,” Royce told the Rossettis before they left the Newton house. Royce had bought from a friend a rundown antiques shop, A-Z Trading, in Hyde Park, a blue-collar neighborhood of Boston, and the place had served him well. It was filled floor to ceiling with cheap pieces of furniture, mirrors, and secondhand items, but it also allowed him to hide valuables from other break-ins.

			“No way,” Stevie Rossetti said. “This is too much stuff for your penny-ante store. Let’s get it over to Eastie, then we can figure out what we’ve got.” Rossetti was referring to East Boston, the neighborhood that was home to the Rossetti gang, and a hotbed of mob activity in the early 1980s.

			Immediately, Royce knew it had been a mistake for Ralph to bring along his nephew. Royce and the younger Rossetti had been clashing for months, ever since Royce had told Ralph of his plan for robbing an armored car. Stevie had loved the plan when Royce explained it to him and Ralph. But the younger Rossetti balked at the gang Royce had pulled together to handle the robbery. “They’re like you, too old,” he’d said bluntly, ending the debate over whose people they were going to use. Royce had looked at Ralph, and knew he could never overrule Stevie.

			The senior Rossetti, hunched and contemplative, never looked up. “We can always use younger men.”

			“Never try to overrule my nephew,” Rossetti later told Royce ominously. “That’s not how we do it here.”

			The Rossetti gang was growing in reputation on Boston’s crime scene. They added members of motorcycle gangs to their numbers and extended their criminal activity beyond armored car and bank robberies to ripping off drug dealers and big-time card games and even hijacking trucks loaded with oriental rugs. When a gang war loomed in Boston in the mid-1980s, the Rossettis quickly threw their support behind “Cadillac Frank” Salemme and battled against a rival gang that was fighting for control of the Boston underworld.

			Royce knew he would never overtake Stevie Rossetti in stature in the gang, so he kept his mouth shut. He drove back to East Boston, wanting to banter about the score they had just pulled off without a hitch. But seeing Stevie was his sullen self, Royce kept quiet as the elder Rossetti gave him directions back to East Boston. There, atop a hill overlooking Suffolk Downs, Boston’s only racetrack, they carried the stolen artwork into the basement of Ralph Rossetti’s house.

			Soon the local press was sniffing around, trumpeting that the theft was one of the largest home break-ins in Newton history and that the thieves appeared to have gained entry to the house by breaking a downstairs window. Two Newton police detectives had been assigned to the case. Royce and the Rossettis laid low, waiting for the news of the theft to disappear from the pages of the Boston newspapers so Royce could see what some of his best black-market fences, whom he’d used in the past to move some of the finer items that passed through the A-Z, might be willing to offer for the artwork.

			That was the plan, at least. Unbeknownst to Royce, Stevie Rossetti had decided to do a little freelancing.

			On his own, less than three weeks after the theft, Stevie Rossetti visited his uncle’s basement and took one of the prints and photographs of several of the other stolen paintings to a connection who had expressed interest in purchasing some of the artwork. Stevie reported back to Ralph Rossetti the next day. “I’ve got a guy who’s interested in buying everything,” he told his uncle excitedly.

			The first Royce heard about it was when Ralph Rossetti called him. “Stevie’s found someone who is interested in doing business,” Ralph said.

			Although he was upset that the younger Rossetti had reached out to a stranger on his own, Royce agreed to a meeting outside an Italian restaurant near busy Maverick Square in East Boston. He knew he didn’t have a choice.

			Royce easily warmed to the stranger as they sat in his Cadillac. He talked knowledgeably about Dalí’s work, and the value of what had been stolen. But what really won Royce over was when the stranger said he’d heard of Royce’s proficiency as a thief from another fence with whom Royce had worked in Providence. The Rossettis, who sat in the backseat, seemed as impressed with the stranger as they were with Royce’s growing reputation.

			“I’ll give you $50,000 for the whole score,” he told Royce. “But I need more than these photos. Before I deliver you any money I need proof of what you’ve got. All of it. Everything.”

			“I’ll tell you what,” Royce countered. “I don’t know you. You say we have friends? You seem to know what we’ve got. How do I know you’re not FBI?”

			Royce paused and threw a handkerchief on the stranger’s lap. “Put this around your eyes and I’ll take you to the stuff.”

			Although they were less than five minutes from Rossetti’s house, where the artwork was still stashed, Royce went from one side street to another, weaving through East Boston, making sure they weren’t being followed. Royce knew the FBI wouldn’t let one of their own out of sight with three known mobsters, so, not seeing any tail or obvious surveillance, he soon relaxed and started talking.

			When they got to Rossetti’s house Royce instructed his passenger to remove his blindfold. By this time he was getting comfortable, and knew that after the blindfolded drive he had the stranger’s full attention. “You know, I’m planning another score that might interest you,” Royce said. “The artwork there makes this look like small potatoes.” Royce handed over a guidebook to the Gardner Museum.

			“Me and the old man have a plan,” Royce boasted, nodding toward the book. “Anything catch your eye?”

			“Are you kidding?” the stranger said with a laugh, flipping through the guidebook. “Let’s see what you’ve got first. Let’s see how this goes.”

			Royce led the group to the backyard, to a door not easily seen from the street. That’s when he noticed the stranger’s shoes.

			”Did you see those shoes? Look at that shine,” Royce whispered to the elder Rossetti, who blew off Royce’s concerns. 

			“Let’s do this,” Ralph said, and the meeting went forward.

			They showed the stranger all eleven pieces from the score at the Newton home.

			“This is nice, quality stuff,” the stranger said. “$50,000 for everything, right? I don’t have time to raise that kind of cash. How about $10,000 for the Dalís?”

			Three prints for $10k? Royce nodded approvingly to the Rossettis.

			A meeting was scheduled, but the stranger kept putting Royce off. Before long Royce gave up on him. “He doesn’t have the dough,” Royce told Ralph Rossetti.

			Then, in late August, six months after their initial meeting, the stranger called Royce.

			“Let’s make a deal,” he said.

			As he continued to wait for an opportunity to cash in his big score, Royce finally heard the magic words from his fence.

			“Where can we meet?” the stranger asked. “I’ve got a buyer for the stuff myself, and I want to do this deal as quickly as possible.”

			“Stevie will meet you late tomorrow afternoon,” Royce said. “East Boston. Outside the entrance to the Sumner Tunnel.”

			The next day, Royce and Ralph Rossetti sat in Royce’s car about a block away from the arranged site for the meeting, a tunnel that carries cars to and from downtown Boston and Logan Airport. But before the younger Rossetti even arrived on the scene with three of the Dalí prints, a swarm of FBI agents descended on Royce’s car and arrested him and the elder Rossetti. They also seized three of the paintings stolen from the Newton home: one lithograph signed by Chagall and two signed by Dalí.

			While Stevie Rossetti was able to elude capture, Royce and Ralph Rossetti were arrested and arraigned on multiple theft charges in Middlesex County Superior Court. They made bail, but Royce returned to court less than a year later to face the charges. He knew he had little recourse but to plead to the break-in at the Newton house. But he had an offer to make to the prosecutors.

			“If you drop the charges against Ralph, I’ll tell you where you can find the rest of the score,” he told prosecutors.

			The deal was struck, though nothing was said about it when Royce appeared in court. Less than a month later police announced a raid of a North Shore motel during which they’d recovered the valuable paintings and prints that had been stolen from the Newton home. Neither Royce’s nor Rossetti’s names were made public as being involved in the paintings’ recovery.

			______________________

			I first met Louis Royce in a private room at a Massachusetts state prison, in a section where inmates could meet with their friends or lawyers. He was in the final months of the seventeen-year sentence for pleading guilty to masterminding a scheme to kidnap and hold for ransom a well-to-do Boston restaurant owner.

			“This is the third long bid I’ve done since the early ’70s,” he told me, estimating that he had spent about five years during the past four decades on the street, with two of those years as an escapee from federal custody.

			In fact, Royce’s criminal record shows that even as a twelve-year-old he was being arrested by Boston police. But those early run-ins with the law, according to his record for being a “stubborn child,” soon turned more serious as he became adept at larceny and breaking and entering.

			Despite the grimness of his past, Royce was upbeat when we met and I told him that I wanted his help in figuring out the Gardner case. Over the next several months we met more than a dozen times and I came to appreciate how important Royce’s experiences were to solving the case. Royce swore he did not know who was responsible for the theft; he had been in prison when it had taken place. But I knew that if I could get him talking, all these years later, he would surely tell me whom he’d told about how vulnerable the museum was to a major theft, not to mention the details of his elaborate plan, and that in turn might help me to determine who pulled it off.

			Royce was blunt about his motive. He had two reasons for wanting to see the case solved.

			“I figure they still owe me my 15 percent,” he said. Under the norms of the criminal life, the person who learns of a potential score, or hatches the plan for it, and passes it on to others, is due 15 percent of the profits of the theft, depending on the tipster’s clout with the actual thieves. “As I see it, with the way it works in my world, someone owes me a lot of money.”

			“You find out who did it,” Royce said. “I’ll make my case with them.”

			Also, Royce said, regardless of who had ordered it and why, the specific purpose of the theft way back in 1990 had long since passed. “Maybe they [the paintings] were taken to get someone out of jail, but that obviously hasn’t happened. So they’re just laying somewhere now, unseen and unappreciated. They should be back with the museum now.”

			Before I spoke to Royce I knew I had to check to make certain of his bona fides. I needed to be sure he had indeed been a master thief who had studied how to rob the Gardner Museum and that he was a trusted member of one of Boston’s most aggressive underworld gangs and had brought the secret of how to rob the museum into that mob.

			Soon I had the testament of the FBI’s leading undercover agent in New England during the 1970s and 1980s.
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